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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board of Directors of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Branch
(“the Branch™), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31* December 2019, and the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in head office
account and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes. '

The Branch is a segment of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong, and is not a separately incorporated legal entity. The accompanying financial statements
have been prepared from the records of the Branch and reflect only transactions recorded locally.

In our opinion,

a) the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Branch as at 31% December 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the provisions of the Brunei Darussalam Companies Act,
Cap. 39 and International Financial Reporting Standards according to the best of our
information and the explanations given to us and as shown by the books of the Branch.

by we have obtained all the information and explanations we required.
Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Branch in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Brunei Darussalam, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for ouropinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the corporate
governance and regulatory disclosure set out on appendices 1 and 2.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board of Directors of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited (continued)
QOther Information (continued)

in connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementis in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Cap. 39 and International Financial Reporting
Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error,

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Branch’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Branch or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Branch's financial reporting
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due fo fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guaraniee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expecied to influence the
economic decisions of users taken cn the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with [SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Globat Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board of Directors of Bank of China {Hong Kong) Limited (continued)
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements {continued)

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Branch’s internal control.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Branch's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material unceriainty exists, we are required to draw atiention in
our auditor's report o the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinicn. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Branch to cease to continue as a going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficieficies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

NST & YOUN

Public Accountants

Registered Public Accountant

Brunei Darussalam
30" March 2020

A member firm of Ernst & Young Gicbai Limited



Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited - B

runei Darussalam Branch

Siatement of Financial Position

As a1 31 December
2019 2018

Notes B%'000 B$'000
Assets
Cash and short term funds 4 4,083 2.633
Balances with Autoriti Monetari Brunei Darussalam 5 47850 17,305
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 1 145 17
Government Sukuk 7 19,271 11,680
Group balances receivable 8 182,044 108,374
Loans and advances to cesfomers 9 138,985 68,147
Other assets i1 446 466
Property and equipment 12 2,732 2,510
Deferred tax azssets 16 297 110
Total Assets 395,643 211,242
Liabilities and Head Office Account
Deposifs from costomers ' 13 174,055 109,413
Group balances pavable 14 107,207 42,404
Other Habilities 15 56,307 2,395
Taxation i6 = =
Head Qifice Account 58,074 57,030
Total Liabilites and Head Office Account 305643 231,242

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Certification:

We certify that the above financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Brunei
Operations of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited (“the Branch”) as at 31 December 2019 and the financial
performance and cash flows of the Branch for the year ended 31 December 2019 in accordance with the provisions

of the Brunei Darussalam Companies Act, Cap 39 and International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the

International Accounting Standards Board.

Wang Xiao Lin Zheng Gang E
General Manage Deputy General Manaéer



Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the vear ended 31 December

Income

Interest income
Interest expense

Net Interest Income

Fees and conunission income
Fees and commission expense
Net Fee Income

Other operating income
Total Operating Income

Staff costs
Other expenses
Total Operating Expenses

Net impairment charges and recoveries
Profit From Operations

Profit Before Taxation

Add: Income tax benefit
Profif For The Year

Other Comprehensive Income
Items that may be reclassified subseguently to Income Statement:

Debt Instruments at fair valne through other comprehensive income:
Change in fair value

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Notes

18
i8

19

19

20

21
22

23

16

‘The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

01.01.2019 01.01.2018
to to
31.12.2019 31.12.2018
BS'000 BS'000
6,736 4,136
(1,762) 572)
4,974 3,564
796 623
30y (12)
766 611
1,223 1,652
6.963 5,827
(3.009) (2.985)
2,719 {2,289)
(5,728) (5,274)
(418) {56)
817 497
817 497
187. 65
1,004 562
40 (40
40 40)
1,044 522




Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch

Statement of Changes in Head Office Account

cecmulate
v A S mvee S
(Losses)
BS'000 B$'000 B$'000 _:_E'.:S’.:ﬂ_ﬁi} BS$'000
Balance as at 1 January 2018 36,000 - - {3492) 32.508
Additional capital 24,000 - - e 24,000
Fair value changas - - (40) = = (40)
Profit for the year - - - | 562 562
Transfer during the vear - 281 - oy _. (281 ) _ -
Balance as at 31 December 2018 60,000 281 40) ;.:(3;3'-11)_ _ 57,030
Balance as at 1 January 2019 60,000 281 {40} (3211) 57.030
Fair value changes - - 40 S 46
Profit for the vear - - = ) : 1@04 1,004
Transfer during the vear = 502 = i _: (502) -
Balance as at 31 December 2019 60,000 783 } _ (37[;9} o | 58,074

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.




Bank of China-(Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch

%

LCash Flow Statement

As at 31 December
01.01.201¢  0L.01.2018

o to
31.12.2019 3122018
BS'000 . BS'000
Cash Flows from Operating Activities '
Prefit Before Taxation 817 407
Adpustment for non cash ftems:
Depreciation of property and equipment 808 G472
Interest income from Government Sukuk (2813 7
Interest expense on lease Habilities I -
Net impairment loss on financial assets 418 56
Operating Profit Before Change In Operating Assets and o R
Liabilities 1,77 . E118
Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities
Batances with Awtorit Monetart Brunet Darussalam (6.820) 1.226
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions (g -
Group balances receivable (73,670) (41017
Loans and advances te custorners (71,233 Eo {19,304)
Other assets 19 - (233
Deposits from customers 04,642 FI7ET
Group balances payvable 64,803 28,071
Other liabilities 53271 17358
Cash generated from{used in} operating activities 32656 (1627
Income tax paid - -
Net Cash generated from/(used in} Operating Activities 32,656 - (16,270)
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Net imvestment in Govermment Sukuk {7.274) (EL.643)
Purchase of property and equipment 203 {0
Net Cash Flows used in Investing Activities (75665 . {(IL7I®)
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Capital ijection from Head Office - 24,000
Interest cxpense on lease Hbilities am - RS
Payment of principal portion of lease Habilities aosy o
Net Cash Flows (used in)/zenerated from Financing Acfivities A1sy- 24000
Net change in cash and cash eguivalents 24,975 {3.983)
Cash and Cash Equivalents as at beginning of the vear _}1,441 oo 15424
Cash and Cash Equivalents as at esd of the year 36416 1lad4l
Cash and cash equivalents comprizes:-
Cash and short term fimds (Note 4) 4,083 2,633
Balances with Autoriti Monetari Brunet Darussalam (Note 3) 32,133 §.808

36,416 11441

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch

Notes to the Financial Statements

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

1.

2.1

2.2

Corporate Information

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, incorporated in Hong Kong, has registered a branch in Brunei on 18
June 2016. The registered office of its Brunei Branch (the “Branch™) is at Kiaro_ngggjé_iya K{'}_mplek, Lot
No.56244, Simpang 22, Jalan Dato Ratna, Kampong Kiarong, Bandar Seri Begawan, BE1318, Brunei

Darussalam.
The Branch is a segment of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited and is not a separately incor_porated jegal
entity. The immediate holding company is BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited in_c_é_rfp'gsratéd it Hotig Kong

and the ultimate holding company is Central Huijin Investment Limited (PRC), China.

The accounts of the Branch are consolidated in that of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited. The
consolidated accounts of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited are available to the-ﬁu_blic:_g}n.ihe'W'ebsite.

The Branch is primarily involved in the business of banking and in the provision of ﬁn_an_q_iai services. There

has been no significant change in the nature of this activity during the year.

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the: Companies Act, Cap
39 and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™) as issued by Zn’ée_{?natiqnal- Accounting
Standards Board. '

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the management of the Br_a_nc_‘h‘ on 30 March 2020.

Basis of measarement

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as otherwise

described below.



Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch
S A

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Brunei dollars (“BND” or B$), which is the Branch’s functional
currency. All financial information presented in BND has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless

otherwise stated.
2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of

assets, Habilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates

are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future petiods affected.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applyingaccounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the ﬁnanc_ia’i statements are as

follows:

(i) The Branch reviews its credit portfolios to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. Under
IFRS 9, the measurement of impairment losses across all categories of credit asset requires
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of futur‘e;t;ash ﬂows and collateral
values when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a sign'iﬁi:'afr_it increase in credit
risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which c_éh result-in. different

{evels of allowances.

The Branch’s Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) calculations are outputs of complex models. The choice
of variable inputs and their interdependencies involves a series of assumptions.. ECL models are
developed by leveraging on existing internal rating models and loss estimfit'e.é;,'_'ib_e:hav'iomjal models
and forecasting factors. Elements of the ECL: models that are considereci'accodn_ti_ng_zju_dgemen‘zs and

estimates include:

. Internal credit rating maodels, which assign Probability of Defaults to the individual ratings;

. Significant credit deterioration criteria (including internal credit rating downgrade, days past
due, drop in Mark-to-Market and qualitative assessment} for assessing:WhEther' the financial
assets’ impairment allowances should be measured on a lifetime ECL. basis;

+«  The segmentation of financial assets according to similar risk and default.characteristics when

their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;
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2.4 Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

. Development of ECL models, including the determination of macroeqanﬁmio factor forecasts
and the effect on Probability of Defaults, Loss Given Defaults and Expo$_ufe_ at Defaults; and

«  Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their pIObébi_¥ifY.W¢igl1ﬁngs.

1t is the Branch’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and -adjust when

necessary.

(i) Fair valuation of financial instruments — selection of valuation models and data. inputs for financial
instruments with no active markets '
(iit) Provision of income taxes — interpretation of tax regulations on certain’ transactions and

computations.
Please refer to notes 9 and 23 for estimate and judgement applied to the calculation of BCL
3. Significant accounting policies

Standards, amendments and interpretation that are relevant to the Branch and are initially at_i(')'pted for the

financial year beginning on 1 January 2019.

The Branch has initially applied IFRS 16 “Leases” and other amendment and interpretationfrom 1 January 2019
onward. Except for IFRS 16, the adoption of applicable standards and interpretations did not fh_éiv_e-'a ‘material

effect on the Branch's financial statements. Details are disclosed as below:
. IFRS 16 l.eases

IERS 16 supersedes the existing standard and interpretations related to leases. Signiﬁga_ﬁt changes to lessees’
accounting are introduced, with the distinction between operating and {inance leases ré‘zﬁ'o'ved.._-_ Lessees account
for all leases in a similar way as the finance lease accounting under TAS 17, i.¢. the lessees .féc_':pgin.iis_e and measure
the corresponding “right-of-use” asset and lease liability at the commencement date (the date when the

underlying asset is available for use by lessees) of the lease by discounting the total future 'ie.as_e_paymerit.

Subsequently, the lessees recognise interest expense through the unwinding of the lease liability,-and the expense
on the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of recognising as rental expenses under operating

leases before the implementation of IFRS 16. As a practical expedient, the lessees can gl_é(it ndf to apply this
accounting model to short-term leases not more than 12 months and leases of low Vfﬂue_ assets, inwhich case

the rental expenses would continue to be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease ferin..

10
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3. Sigrificant accounting policies (continued)

There are no significant changes to the lessors™ accounting requirements as compared with 1AS 17. The

requirements of IFRS 16 are summarised as follows:

Lease liabilities are the discounted present value of the future cash flows of the non-cancellable lease payments
of the lease contracts, after taking into account payments to be made in optional period if the extension option
is reasonably certain to be exercised, using the lessees’ incremental borrowing rates at the commencement date

of leases as discount rate.

Right-of-use assets aré generally measured at the amount of the lease liabilities plus initial-ditect costs, estimated
dismantling or restoring cost and adjusted by prepaid lease payments. Right-of-use: ass.e'ts--a_re_-subsequentiy
measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment--los‘sé_s;.. and adjusted for

any remeasurement of the lease lability.

After the commencement date, the carrying value of lease liability will be increased to reflect the unwinding of
discount through interest expense and will be reduced to reflect the lease payments made. The lease liability will
also be remeasured if there is any modification to the lease contracts. Right-of-use asséts. -é‘r_e depreciated by
straight-line method from commencement date to the end of lease term. In case there is a purchase option that
is expected to be exercised, then the right-of-use asset will be depreciated to the end of -t_he:use_fui life of the

underlying asset.

The Branch has elected to use the modified retrospective approach and the practical expedient on short-term and
low-value assets leases for the adoption of IFRS 16 and recognised the cumulative effec_t-of%ha :i:niti_ghl. application
by initially recognising the opening balances of the right-of-use assets and lease iiabi_iiﬁ"’e_é:at 1 Jénuary 2019
with no restatement of the comparative information. The initial application has affected lease contracts that

previously classified as operating leases.

The first time application of IFRS 16 resulted in the initial recognition of lease liabilities (_re;:orded under “Other
Liabilities” in the balance sheet) of BND$130 thousands and right-of use assets (record‘ﬁ_:‘d.f.u'ﬂdé‘f_"‘Prﬁperty and
Equipment” in the balance sheet) of BND$130 thousands respectively due to the lease of prqpefﬁes. The
difference between lease liabilities and right-of-use assets is related to the adjustment ari.si_ﬁg fr'_orﬁ prepaid or
unrecognised finance charge as at the initial adoption date. Initial direct costs were not included in the opening

adjustment of right-of-use assets as permitted by the transition requirements of the standard.

11
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

B%'060

Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 270
Less : commitments relating to short-term leases - {136)
| ' 134

Weighted average incremental borrowing rates as at 1 January 2019 241%

Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 130

3.1 Property and equipment

All property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation arid impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition a1‘1d'-_iﬁsff_aﬂé_ﬁ(_m'f0'f:' the items.
Subsequent costs are included in an asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset; as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow :fgi:"th_ej Branich and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The item is stated at cost less impairment u_ntii '-it'-:‘begiHé to. generate
economic benefits, then the item is subsequently measured according to the measarem:enﬁ-:b'a_'sié;'_tﬁff'i'ts' respective
assets class. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the income stateme_h.t'_'du;fil;g.-the. financial

period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write down the cost or revalued amount of such assets

over their estimated useful lives as follows:

* Renovation Over the period of 6 years
* Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 10 years
« Motor Vehicles 5 years

The useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, as at the end of each repoiting period.

At the end of each reporting period, both internal and external sources of information are considered to determine
whether there is any indication that property and equipment are impaired. If any such.-iﬂd_it;atiqn exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss is reéqgni'é'ed.to..reduce the
asset to its recoverable amount. Such an impairment loss is recognised in the income éfaf_éﬁl;eﬁt._except where
the asset is carried at valuation and the impairment loss does not exceed the revaiuationsiifpié_is- for-that same
asset, in which case it is treated as a revaluation decrease. The recoverable amount is .‘the.;._h’igﬁer of the asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Impairment loss is reversed through the premises re\}aigatio_n reserve

or the income statement as appropriate.

12
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
3.1 Property and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses on disposals are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount, relevant taxes and expenses. These are recognised in the income statement on the date of disposal.
Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retain-ejd_.--earﬁfngs and is not

reclassified to the income statement.

3.2 Foreign currency transactions

The functional and presentation currency of the Branch is Brunei Dollars (BND). On initial recognition,
transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency of the Branchj-_';it. the exchange rate
ruling at the fransaction date. Subsequent to initial recognition, monetary assets and moneféry liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate of exchange ruling at fh::e:reporting date. Non-
monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are transiated_-uSi:_ﬁ'g:the'exChange rate
at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in the fér‘ei_g’n currency are

translated using the exchange rate at the date when the fair value is determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary. items at reporting

date are recognised in the profit or loss statemnent.

3.3 Fair values of financial assets and liabifities

AH financial instruments for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised

within the fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, “Fair value measurement™. ”E‘ﬁé 'cjagtegoris'ation are

determined with reference to the observability and signiticance of the inputs used in the vaigati'()n_jmethods and
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

. Level 1: based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets: or liabilities. This
category includes equity securities listed on exchange, debt instruments issued by 'dert'éiﬁ_ .goyemfnents and
certain exchange-traded derivative contracts. | |

. Level 2: based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to-the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly. This category includes majotity of the over-the-
counter (“OTC"} derivative contracts, debt securities and certificates of deposit with quote from pricing
services vendors, issued structured deposits and other debt instraments.

. Level 3: based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable. This category includes equity investment, debt instruments and certain OTC

derivative contracts with significant unobservable components.

13
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Financial Instrements

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle oira nél_‘,_'baS'iS',_of tealise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial Assets

‘The Branch classifies its financial assets into one of the following measurement categoriesat initial recognition
as subsequently measured at: fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL”), amortised cosi-aﬁﬁs;fﬁit Value'iﬂ}rougll
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). The classification depends on the entity’s. 'b'u_s;.in'e_:s's- model for
managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instruments, or the
election of fair value option. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value. Ext;e_pi for financial assets

catried at FVPL, all transaction costs of financial assets are included in their initial carrying amounts.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets designated at fair value through profitor loss at inception,
or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value through profit orloss; _Enciud'_i'n'g those held

for trading.

A financial asset which has been acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of sellitig in the short term or
is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and fof -Wh'iﬁh:ﬁ)éfe_ isevidence
of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking is classified as held for trading.-Derivatives are also

classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. -

A financial asset, other than those held for trading or mandatorily measured at fair value, 'W_i}f"be designated as
a financial asset at FVPL, if it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or re_cdghit_i()n_ﬁiﬂcOﬂS’istency
(sometimes referred to as “an accounting mismatch™) that would otherwise arise from _mgias_ug;_ifhgzﬁfh_é financial

assets or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases, and is so designated by the Management.
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Financial Instraments (continued)

(i1} Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions
are met: (i) the financial assets are held within a business model with the objective to h{)‘}&_- ﬁnaﬁcial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows (“hold-to-collect” business model), and (ii} the céﬁtraétuai_terms of the
financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding on specified dates. They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly -attributable
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective’ int’efesf method less
allowances for impairment losses. Interest income which includes the amortisation of premiutn-or discount is
calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised in the income statement'_; gains of losses are

recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Debt instruments are classified as subsequently measured at FYQCT if both of the following conditions are met:
(i) the financial assets are held within a business model with the objective of both holding 't'o. collect contractual
cash flows and selling, and (ii} the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to ca_sﬁ ﬂow_s.that are solely

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates.
Financial Liabilities

(iv) Financial liabilitics designated at fair value through profit or loss

This class of instruments includes certain deposits received from customers that are embedded with derivatives.
The plain vanilla contracts are valued in the similar way described in previous debt Se'éuriti-eS'-section. The fair
value of structured deposits is derived from the fair value of the underlying deposit by using discounted cash
flow analysis taking the Branch’s own credit risk into account, and the fair value of the'emb_ed_ded.'deriﬁfatives

determined as described in the paragraph above on derivatives.

(v) Financial liabilities held at amortised cost

Financial liabilities are classified as amortised cost instruments.
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited - Brunei Darussalam Branch

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Financial Instruments (continued)

Recognition and derecognition of Financial Instruments

Loans and receivables (except investment securities without an active market) are recognised when cash is
advanced to the borrowers. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to recei_v_é 'ca_sh 'ﬂow‘s.'fmm the
financial assets have expired or where the Branch has transferred substantially all risks and-"rfeward:s of ownership.
When the Branch neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of owriership of the financial
asset, the Branch either continues to recognise the transferred financial asset to the exfe;ﬁ%c (_)f 1ts -continuing

involvement if control remains or derecognise it if there is no retained control.

Financial liabilities are derecognised from the balance sheet when and only when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. If the Branch purchases its own debt, it_is_réi'*{_a’dxied:ﬁdm' thé balance
sheet, and the difference between the carrying amount of a liability and the considerati_c_ih pald is Qi;jc'iuded in net

trading gain/loss.

3.5 Impairment of financial assets

The Branch recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following items:
«  Financial assets measured at amortised cost; '
»  Debt securities measured at FVQCI; and

»  Loan commitments and financial guarantees issued, which are not measured at FVPL.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted where the effect of.'diéc(ju_nt_ing-i's material.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period. over which the

Branch is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Branch takes into account reasonable and supportable information that is available, This
includes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economiéﬁ Cq:;d_iﬁcms. ECLs

are measured on either of the following bases:

«  12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default events within 12 months

after the reporting date; or
«  Lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default events over the expected

lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.5 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Branch will account for expected credit losses within the next 12 months as Stage 1 when those financial
instruments are initially recognised; and to recognise lifetime expected credit losses as Stage 2-when there has
been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition. Lifetime expected credit }65595"@11 be

recognised for credit-impaired financial instruments as Stage 3 if one or more events fh‘aﬁ- .ﬁé‘ve a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred and interesf w’.i'll. then be acerued

net of the impairment amount of the respective Stage 3 financial assets.

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument (including a loan commitment and financial
guarantee) has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Branch compares.the’.ri’sk-_of aafaulf:occurring
on the financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed at the date of thitial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Branch considers that a default event occurs when (i) the-_Bi_)rrOWé'r is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Branch in full, without recourse by the Branch to _actiOﬁs such as realising
securities (if any s held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Branch coﬁs’i;dgr:s_.bpth qu_ahtitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-

fooking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:

» failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates;

»  an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available); ' '

+  anactual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have a

significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Branch.

For loan commitments and financial guarantees, the date of initial recognition for the purpose of assessing ECLs
is considered to be the date that the Branch becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment. Inn assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of a loan comiitment or-a financial
guarantee, the Branch considers changes in the risk of default occurring on the loan and advances to which the

loan commitment/financial guarantee relates.

17



Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.5 Impairment of financial assets {continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is perﬁ_)__rmed on 4 collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status

and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrumént’s credit risk since

initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or foss in profit or loss.

The Branch recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt securities that are

measured at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recorded in the fair value reserve.

When a financial asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for impairment losses. Such
assets are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the Toss has been
determined. The assets written off are still subject to enforcement activity. Subsequent récoveries of amounts

previously written off decrease the amount of impairment losses in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of allowance for impairment losses decreases and-the decrease can be
related objectively o an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised (such s an :improjvement in
the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss to the extent of its decrease is reversed by

adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the income statémet.
3.6 Current and deferred income taxes

Tax expenses for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive i'n(::_'cjmé.- In'this case, the

tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

Income tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the jurisdiction where the Branch operates and generate taxable inconie, is recognised as a

current income tax expense in the period in which profits arise.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or subs_t_anﬁveiy-enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred inconie tax asset is realised

or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited - Brunei Darussalam Branch

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.6 Current and deferred income taxes (continued)

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property and equipment and tax losses carried
forward. However, the deferred income tax is not recognised if it arises from initial recogniti_oﬁ ofan asset or
Hability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction-affects neither

accounting nor taxable profit nor loss.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided in full on all taxable temporary differences. Deferred income tax
assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of any unused tax credits and
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be ava.iia_b_lé -against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax fosses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is charged or credited in the income statement.

3.7 Interest income and expense and fee and commission income and expenses

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement for all financial assets and financial

liabilities using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant per.iod'; The effective inferest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through ﬂ_i_é‘rs_axpected life of the
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of th‘é'-.ﬁﬁanciai asset or
financial liability. When calculating the etfective interest rate, the Branch estimat’_es_ future cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit losses. The

and directly atiributable origination fees and costs which represent an integral part of the ef_fectiﬁfe yield.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result.of an impairment
loss, interest income is recognised on the written down value using the rate of interest used td'di'sco_uh’{ the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Subsequent unwinding of the discount allowance

is recognised as interest income.

Fee and commission income and expenses that are not an integral part of the effective yield are recognised on
an accrual basis ratably over the period when the related service is provided, such as administrative fee, asset

management fee and custody services fee.
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch a®

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.8 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Branch has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

3.9 Employee benefits

Salaries, cash honuses, allowances, commissions and defined contributions under regulations are recognised in
the income statement when incurred. Leave entitlements are recognised when they accrue to-employees.

Provision for leave entitlements is made based on contractual terms with adjusted for _eXpé‘Cted attrition.

The Branch took part in the compulsory pension contribution with Tabung Amanah Peke‘rj ﬁ.'(T.AP)-and
Supplemental Contributory Pension Fund (SCP), where fund for the payment of monthly contributions are
made to the TAP and SCP based on a percentage of the gross emoluments exciuding._ce_rtain-éI_Epwances. The

percentage of contributions was determined by TAP and SCP and provided for all membéijsﬁ_bfihe local staff.

3.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances. with original maturity less than three months from the date of
acquisition, including cash, balances with banks and other financial institutions, baiaﬂ_'céé- placed with Autoriti
Monetari Brunei Darussalam (excluding the minimum cash reserve), short-term bills -.a_?z'él_ notes classified as

investment securities and certificates of deposit.

3.11 Impairment of pon-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Branch reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets :(_c_)'_t_her than deferred
tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such iﬁdic_’&fi@ﬁ éxists, then the

asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows

from continuing use that is largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.

The ‘recoverable amount’ of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value.in use and its fair value less cost to sell.
‘Value in use’ is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and thé'ri‘sks specific to the

asset or CGU.,
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.11 Impairment of non-financial assets {continued)

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the

assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

For the assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no

impairment loss had been recognised.

- 3.12 Lease
Before 1 January 2019

The Branch leases operation and office premises under operating leases as a lessee. Payments made under
operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease

incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

After | January 2019

Lessees account for all leases in a similar way as the finance lease accounting under IAS 17, i.¢. the lessees
recognise and measure the corresponding “right-of-use” asset and lease liability at the co_:m:méljmemén‘i date
(the date when the underlying asset is available for use by lessees) of the lease by discounting the total future
lease payment. Subsequently, the lessees recognise interest expense through the unwinding of the lease
Hability, and the expense on the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of recogﬁi:;;i;:{g_: aé- rental expenses

under operating leases before the implementation of [FRS 16.

After the commencement date, the carrying value of lease liability will be increased to reflect the unwinding of
discount through interest expense and will be reduced to reflect the lease _payments.-made;fh_e.iease-l.iability
will also be remeasured if there is any modification to the lease contracts. Right-of-use assets are-depreciated
by straight-line method from commencement date to the end of lease term. In case there is a purchase option
that is expected to be exercised, then the right-of-use asset will be depreciated to the end of the useful life of

the underlying asset.
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.12 Lease (continued}

Right-of-use assets are generally measured at the amount of the lease liabilities plus initial direct costs,
estimated dismantling or restoring cost and adjusted by prepaid lease payments. Rightaqf—usé-_as%'sets are
subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses; and

adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.

Lease liabilities are the discounted present value of the future cash flows of the non-canceilable lease
payments of the fease contracts, after taking into account payments.to be.made in optimnal':p'ériod'? if the
extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised, using the lessees” incremental borrowing rates at:the

commencement date of leases as discount rate.

Short-term leases are those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less which are notcapitalised. When
the Branch enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Branch decides whether tq’é&iq_ita;]ise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those leases which are not capitalised are

recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

4. Cash And Short Term Funds :
2919 2018
BS'000  BS'000

Cash in hand 4083 2,633
4,083 - 2,633

5. Balances With Awforiti Monetari Brunei Darussalam
2019 2018
BS'000  BS'000

Balances placed with AMBD 327533 ) -S_,S_E)S
Minimum cash reserve 15,317 8.497
47,650° 17,305

The minimum cash reserve is maintained as required by the provisions of Section 45 of the B_runei Darussalam
Banking Order 2006. This is not available for use in the Branch’s day to day operations. At present the minimum

cash reserve requirement is 6% of the deposit liabilities and does not earn interest.
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6. Deposits With Banks And Other Financial Institutions
2019 2018
BS$'000 BS'000

At amortised cost 145 17
145 17

7. Government Sukuk
2019 2018
BS'000 BS'000
Debt Instrument at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
Govermment Sukuk held

Origiﬁal' maturity less than one vear 19.275 - 11.680
Less : Impairment allowances (4) "
19,271 11,680

8. Group Balances Receivable
2019 2018
B$'000 B$'000
Name of the company

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, Hong Kong 182,044 108,374

182,044 108,374

The group balances receivable at the year-end are unsecured and interest bearing and repayable on demand.

9. Loans And Advances

2019 2018
BS'000 BS'000

Loans and advances analysed by fype:
Term loans
- Property loans 7.658 §.783
- Others 119.202 59.813
Trade bills 12.969 -
Gross Loan And Advances 139.829 68,596
Less : Impairment allowances made in respect of
such advances
- Stage 1 (Note 23) (844) (449)
Net Loan And Advances 138,985 68.147
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19. Non-Perferming Loans And Advances

Loans and advances
Gross Amount

Less : Impairment allowances made in respect of
such advances

- Stage 1 to 3 (Note 23)

Net Amount

Movement in non-performing loans and advances i as follows:-

Classified during the vear
Reclassified as perforting
Write-offs

Balance as at 31 December

11. Other Assets

Accroed Interest Recedvable
Prepayments

Sundry Debtors

Less ; Enpairment Allowances

2019 2018
BS'000. BS'000
2019 2018
BS'006 - B$'000
200 289
103 86
135 -0 o1
466

46
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O S AT

12, Property and Equipment

Right-of-use Renovation Furniture, Motor Total Total
Assets Fixtures & Vehicles
Equipment
2019 2019 2019 2019 2619 2018

B5'000 B3'400 B§'000 B3'060. .BS*(]G_G Bf'en0

Cost'Valuation

As at the beginning of the year - 1,368 1,905 215 3488 3,418
Initial adoption of [FRS 16 130 - - - 130 -
Additions during the year 691 167 125 - Gg3 Ta
Modification of lease (130) - - - {130% -
As at end of the year 691 1,538 21.630 215 - 4471 3,488

Accumulated depreciation and impairment :
As at the beginning of the year - (3233 (607) (48} {978) (330)

Depreciation charge for the year (149) (228) (38%8) (3% (808 (642)
Modification of lease 37 - - ~ CEy -

As at end of the year (112) (551} (995) 0. {1,749 (978)
Net Book Value as at end of the year 579 984 1,035 s 273 2,510

Right-of-use Assets

The right-of-use assets is related to the leases of premises as its principal place of bﬁsinas‘s?_.operations e_md staff

accomumodation.

13. Deposits from Customers

2019 - 2018
BS$'000 B$'000
Analvsed by tvpe of deposit:
Demand deposits 14,264 21,429
Savings deposits 66,027 ‘84,786
Fixed deposits 93 764 3,198
174,055 109.413
Analysed by type of customer:
Business enferprises 157,446 95,623
Individuals 7.527 13,790
Central Government 9.082 -
174,055 109,413
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14. Group Balances Pavable

018 2018
BS'000: - BS'000
Name of the company o SRS '
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, Hoag Kong 107207 47404
107,207 . 42404
The group balances payable at the year-end are interest bearing and repayable on demand o
15. Other Liabilities _
2019 2018
BSO00 - BS'000
Creditors and accruals 1012 : 1081
Other 54,651 R 55
Lease Liabilities 623 .
Impairment allowances on loan commitments and financial guarantes contracts:
- Stage 1 B 3
56,307 . . 2395

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows: '

01

Lease Liabilities - BS'000
Initial adoption of IFRS 16 e -0
Additions o E:fli
Accretion of Interest '
Dismantling Provision

Modifications

Payments

As at 31 December 523
Cutrent 203
Non-current 420

The total cash outflow for leases is B$ 457 thousands.
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16. Taxation 01.01.2019. 01.01.2018
- to to
31122019 - 31122018

BS'000  B$'000

a. The tax charge recognised in the profit or loss comprises of the
following:

Current fax expense
Current yvear -
Deferred tax &7 65

b. Provision for Taxation:

Balance as at 1 January S -
Payment - -
Current year tax expense o -
Balance as at 31 December CrmnTome L

The tax expense on the results of the Branch differs from the amount that would atis;f_:i:_us__i}j;‘g_' the Brunei

Darussalam statutory rate of income tax due to the following:

2019 2018

B$'000 - B$'000
Reconciliation of effective fax rate S e
Profit before income tax gir 497
Tax calculated at 2 tax rate of 18.5% 158 )
Tax effect of non-taxable expenses (net of non-deductible revenue) 2F 9
Tax effect of further deduction it I@) _ {8y
Origination and reversal of temporary difference (349} B {158}

Total asp- - 189

Accelerated  Losses available
Impairment depreciation for offsetting

Deferred fax assets/(liabilities) Allowances for tax ag‘aili_s_fi- fitire Total
purposes taxahiéf_ come
B$'000 B$'000 © U BS'000  BS$'000
Asat I Janmuary 2019 35 (195) 250 110
Credited to income statement 77 (64) © 174 187
As at 31 December 2019 132 (259) .2 297
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17. Commiiments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Branch makes various commitments and incurs qertaiﬁlconﬁngent.liabilities
with legal recourse to its customers. No material losses are anticipated as a result 0fﬁthe’§§ tifaﬁsgctiws. As the
Contingencies and Commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the notional 'am_qt';n'tj:;.z-dq’n.o‘t:_n:cc_‘,essarily

reflect future cash requirements.

2019 2018

BS'000 BSW000
Contingencies ol
Letters of cradit 2.163 o B
Guarantees, bonds 14 13698
Acceptances 606 e
Subtotal 2,783 - 13608
Commitments
Undrawn credit nes 10304
Subtotal 16,304
Total Contingencies apd Commitments 13,087

18. Net Interest Income and Interest Expense

01.01.2019
to
31.12.2019
BS5'000
Interest Income
Group balances receivable 192t oagsE
Loans and advances to customers 43534 o 23{3? .
Government Sulmk 281 e
Total Interest Income 6,736 . 4136
Interest Expense oot
Deposits from customers 358 o TAR
Group balances payable 1,404 A
Total Interest Expense 1,762 B

Net Interest Income 4974 - 3,564
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192. Net Fee Commission and Income

Account services

I.oan commissions

Cuirency exchange

Payment services

Others

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Net fee and commission income

20. Other Operating Income

Gain on foreign currency exchange

21. Staff Costs

Wages and salaries
Allowance and bonuses
Local Contribution Plan
Others

01.01.20190

to
31.12.2019

BS'600-

412
104

4
163
113

01.61.2018

e =, to
31.12:2018

258

79
12

796
(30)

766

ay

01.061.2019

iG
31.12.20%0

BS'000-

1.223

3122018
- Bswoo

1652

1,223

01.01.2019
to
31.12.2019
BS000

2,029
895
§2

3

01012018

T L6852

e

- 3112.2018
- BS000

.
- ;.?3:?.?__

3,009
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22. Other Expenses

Administration and general expenses
Advertising and publicity

Auditor's fees

Depreciation

Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
EDP expenses

Others

Premises and equipment expenses
Rental expenses

Expenses relating to short-term leases
Professional fees

23. Net Charge of Impairment Allowances on Advances and Other Accounts

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

Net charge of impairment allowances on advances and other accounts

Movement in Impairment Allowances

At 1 January

Transfer o Stage 1
Transfer to Stage 2
Transfer to Stage 3

01.01.2019 - 01.01.2018
to. T te
31.12.2019 - 31.12.2018
BS'000 - . B$'000
456 - 7
201 217
41 42
659 642

149 -
10 -
531 562
257 200
4 66
- 171
301 R
M T8
2,719 o 389
01.01.201¢ 01012018
’tG"-“ o
31122019 - 31.12.2018

BS'000 . BS'000

gy 58

@8y 56

2019 2619 2019
BS'000 BS'000 © . BS'000
Stage 1 Staged . - ':'_Ti“.ota}
452 - 452
418 - 418
870 - 870
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23. Net Charge of Impairment Allowances on Advances and Other Accounts (c_:m_ztii;_ué_d)' '

Movement iz Impairment Allowances

2018 2018 2018 . . 2018

B$'000 BS'060 B$'000 -~ BS000
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3. . ‘Total
At 1 January 396 - - BRI 5+
Transfer to Stage 1 36 = TN
Trausfer to Stage 2 - = - ' '-'
Transfet to Stage 3 - - - L=
452 - . UL a8y
2019 2019 2010 ALY A0
BS'000 BS'000 BS'000 BS'G00 . BST00-

Balance as at Balanceas at

1 Junuary Stage 1 Stage 2 Stagse? 3t Pécember:
Loans And Advances Te Customers 449 395 = . '_ S B .
Government Sukulk = 4 2 - A
Other Assets - 1 - - e g
Financial Guarantees 2 {1 - = a0 1
Other Commitments 1 1% = = oo 2% o B
432 418 - - BT
2018 2018 2018 2018 . 2018
BS'000 BS'000 BS'000 BS'000 .- BS000
Balance as at _ . . Balancéasat
1 January Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3-.'-:_3’1; December
Loans And Advances To Customers igo 60 = S Ty
Other Assets 3 {33 - - : R
Financial Guaraniees 1 I3 - - 2
Other Commitments 3 {3 - e g
396 56 - T
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24. Accounting Classificatior and Fair Values

The Branch’s classification of its financial assets and liabilities is summarised in the table below:

As at 31 December 2019

Asseis

Cash and short term funds

Balances with Autoriti Monetar Brunei Darussatam
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions
Government Sukuk:

Group balances recefvables

Loans and advances to customers

Other aszets {excluding prepayments)

Liabilities

Deposits from customers
Group balances payable
COther Habilities

As at 31 December 2018

Assets

Cash and short term fimds

Balances with Awtoriti Monetari Brunet Darussalam
Deposits with barks and other financial institaions
Government Sulmk

Group balances receivables

Loans and advances to customers

Other assets (exchuding prepavments)

Linbilities

Depesits from customers
Group balances payable
Other Habilities

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch

Carrying Amount .

EETER

Amaortized Cost  Fair Value Fioaneial 70 - Total
through Other  Liabilitiesaf - -
Comprehensive Amortised Cos
Income e
BS'000 BS'006 BS'000 -~ . BS'000
4083 - = 4083
47.650 - = 47.650
145 = < 145
- 19271 - 19271
182044 - 182,044
138,985 - & 135985
344 - © 344
373,251 19,271 2 A
- - 74035
_ - 107207
- - 36307
- - 337,569
Carrying Amonut .

Amortised Cost  Fair Value Fimancial. = " Total.
through Other  Liabilitiésat = :
Compreliensive Amortised Cost .

Income e

BS'000 BS'000 BS'000 - - BS000
24833 - - 2633
17305 - = 17305
17 = = 7
- 11 680 = 11680
108,374 - = 138374
68,147 - 68,147
380 - = . 330
196,856 11,680 “ - 208,536
- - 100413 109413
- - 42,404 42404
e = 3395 2,395
- - I54,2%3
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24. Accounting Classification and Fair Values (continued)

Determination of fuir value

The methodologies and assumptions used in estimating fair value depend on the terms and risk characteristics

of the various instruments and include the following:

Loans and advances

Fair value of loans and advances is estimated by discounting anticipated cash flows (including interest at
contractual rates). Performing loans are grouped, to the extent possible, into homogenous pools segregated by
maturity and the coupon rates of the loans within each pool. In general, cash flows are.discounted using current

market rates for instruments with similar maturity, repricing and credit risk characteristics:

For non-performing uncollateralised loans and advances, an estimate is made of the tims--pcrig'a' fo-realise these
cash flows and the fair value is estimated by discounting these cash flows at the effective interest-rate. For non-
performing loans and advances where collateral exists, the fair value is the lesser of the carrying value of the

loans and advances, net of specific allowances, or the fair value of the collateral, discount:ed' as appropriate.

Based on the methodology described above, the Branch has determined that the carrying values of loans and

advances approximate fair values.

Government Sukuk

The carrying value of the Govermment Sukuk approximate its fair value because of the-shorﬁi-pgri:ods to maturity.
Deposits by customers

Deposit by customer is calculated using discounted cash flow models, based on the depo_s’iftype_- and its related
maturity, applying either market rates, where applicable or current rates offered for ciepo_s';itsigif si:miiar remaining

maturities.

Based on the methodology described above, the Branch has determined that the carrying value of deposits by

customers approximate fair values.

33



Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunet Darussalam Branch ’ e g

24. Accounting Classification and Fair Values (continued)
Other financial assets and liabilities

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of the other financial assets and liabilities: (mciudmg cash and short
term funds, balances with Autoriti Monetari Brunei Darussalam, group balances: recelvable othier assets,
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, group balances payable and other I1ab111t1es) approx;mate

their fair value because of the short periods to maturity.

25. Operating leases

For the previous financial years, the Branch leased premises as its principal place of buﬁiﬁe_ss,O'p'e}faﬁ-ons and
staff accommodation under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of 1 fo 55_-}26ars;'with'aﬁ option

to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are increased every three to five yearsto ye'ﬁect market rentals.

As at 31 December, the Branch has commitments for future minimum lease payments under tion-cancellable

operating lease as follows:

2019 2018

BS'000 - - . B$'000
Gross Operating Lease Pavable: o '
Within one year - 189
Later than one vear and less than five years . 81

26. Related Party Transactions

(i) Related party shall include Key Management Personnel (KMP), close relatives and other entmes Close
relative of a KMP shall include that person’s children and spouse. Other related entltles shall mciude entrtles

which are controlled and/or significantly influenced by the KMP or their close relatives. -

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Branch if the Branch or
its Head Office has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise mgmﬁcant mﬂuence over
the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Branch_-a_nd_-the party are subject

to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individualsor _c_)th_e’:ﬁ-'entiﬂ'es-.
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26. Related Party Transactions (continued)

Key Management Personanel Compensation o &
2019 L2018
BS'000 - BSI000
Short term employee benafits 617 i o 757 '
Post employment benefits - '_-.
617 B

2019 2018 2019
B$'000 B$'000 . BS000
KMP  Close Relatives: Otlier Related
Iicome Statement ' - ‘Entities
Income .
Tnterest income = = Tl -
Other income - . - -
Total - - e S

Expense

Interest expense = - oy _
Other expenses - - Y DA
Total - - R

Balance Sheet

Assets .

Loans and advances - - eyt e U
Credit cards o
Other assets ot o B
Total - = e -

Liabilities R
Deposits 663 = S =
Total 663 - R

Off Balance Sheet items _
Other commitments and contingencies - - PR
TFotal - - B e 2op
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26. Related Party Transactions (continued)

a. Balance Sheet

P4 7 5. S 2018
BS'W0OOG. . BS'000
Group balances receivable 182,044 o 108574
Total Assets 182044 108,374
Group balances payable (107201 | ."éﬁiz-,ém}
Total Liabilities (107,207). - (42.404)
Other commitments and contingencies - C -
Other liabilities - . ' - R -
Total Off Balance Sheet Iiems - e
Total | 74837 65970
b. Income Statement =
2019 .. 2018
BS'GO0 - . B$'000
Interest income 192y o 1752
Total Income 1921 om0 LA
Interest expense 1,404 424
Total Expenses 1404 0 424

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The other assets with and borrowings from related parties as at year end are made on te_mst e_;’q_li_i_valent to those
that prevail in arm’s length transactions. The balances at the year-end are unsecured:and_f :i'ntefé_st:be_aring and

settlement occurs in cash.

The other liabilities from related parties as at year end are made on.terms equivalentto '_thbsé_fthat ‘prevail in
arm’s length transactions. Ouistanding balances at the year-end are charged with interest bearing and:

repayable on demand,

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables ot payables. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Branch has not recorded any impairment of receivables an'dﬁ_payébl'_es telating to
amoumnts owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial year thr(_)_;ifg_h é_zxaminihg_the

financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates, -
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27, Capital Management

The Branch’s approach to capital management is to ensure that the Branch maintains adequate level of capital
necessary to support its business and growth, to meet regulatory capital requirements at 4l tinies and to maintain

a good credit rating,

Head office committees oversee the Branch’s capital planning and assessment process. Any capital management
plans, the contingency capital plans, and any capital management actions are submitied to -Hé;_&d Office senior

management team and/or Head Office board for approval.

As a branch of a foreign entity, Head Office is the primary equity capital provider to-the B_raﬁph,. and this.is done
via Head Office’s own refained earnings and capital issuance, Capital _generate&- by t_hfe'j._B_iaﬂéh in excess of

planned requirements is returned to Head Office by way of repatriations.

The Branch is required to maintain sufficient Capital Funds by the local regulator, Autoriti- Monetari Brunei
Darussalam (AMBD), to ensure that the relevant regulatory limits as set out in the B_r:'iifﬁé'i:j:Bah'kin'g':(')_r'der are
complied with. Capital Funds, as defined under by AMBD, is used for the purpos_é- of the: éb‘Q{fe-.C'oihp'iiance.
Besides the Capital Funds requirements, the Branch is also required to set aside themlmmum leifel.'jofcligible
assets in Brunei in proportion to its protected deposit liabilities pursuant to the Eo"c':al -?e'g_i;iaﬁjry feq'{_i_ir_e'ments.

The Branch has complied with the abovementioned regulatory requirements durmgthepenod '

The Branch has complied with the minimum capital adequacy ratio for the Bank to _m__';cj'é_t ég rgquir_ed. under the

Banking Order, 2006 and the methodology for calculating these ratios under the Basi:['[I_:,PiH-_éﬁ" f.f_i‘dméWork.
28. Financial Risk Management

Overview of risk management

The Branch conducts risk assessment in daily operations based on its business activitie$;ﬁ.§¢ts- up risk appetite,
and risk adjusted return targets as well as different levels of risk limits and Key stk'lﬁ_di'qéibi:s {“KRI5”) under
the overall risk appetite framework. The risk appetite is cascaded to business ilﬁiié: _En'tp_ “corresponding

performance indicators, so as to supervise business units to make proper adjustments to the Branch’s operations

based on current risk status.
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)

The Branch conducts regular assessment on risk management status and risk governance based on regulatory
requirements and assesses the Branch’s level of internal capital adequacy accordingly. Key ty.pgs--.of-risk inherent
in the Branch include: .

o Credit risk

+ Market risk

= Foreign Exchange risk

¢ Interest Rate risk

e Liquidity risk

The risk governance structure of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited covers 3 layers: the Board of Directors

and its subordinate committees, the senior management and the management level cor’n_xﬁit_t’g’é_g the three lines

of defence risk management functions. However, the risk governance structure of the Branch only covers the
senior management and the three lines of defence risk management functions. o _

*  Board of Directors: Being an overseas branch, the Branch does not have a dedicated Board of Directors.
The Board of Directors for Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited represents the. i'ntetfz_é_'_‘s‘_ts_.qf shareholders,
and is the highest decision-making authority and has the ultimate responsibility fofji_ _th:e-.é'vérsighf of risk
management. The Board with the assistance of its committees which includes a -Risﬁ_;'-CQ#tmiﬂee has the
primary responsibilities for the determination of risk management strategies, r.isk_-appefité and- tisk culture.

*  Senior Management: The Branch’s senior management is responsible in impl_emén:t_i_ii_'g these risk
management strategies and ensuring development of policies and procedures for tdentifymg, measuring,
monitoring and controlling risk arising from new businesses, products and o;:n‘ar.at_ir_lg'.-_ef}&Vji"f{)mnen‘[j or in
response to regulatory changes. |

* Business unit (front office): Act as the first line of defence of risk management_ﬁid: is fesponsible for
solicifing business in compliance with the risk management policies and procedur'é_s a_nd:wifthi’h various risk
limits, and for assessing and monitoring the risk of their business, and ensuring risk d&tais c.gcrectiy entered,
kept current and aligned with the data definitions. '

¢ Risk management unit (middic office): Independent from the business unit, and responsible for day-to-day
management of different kinds of risks, Primary responsibilities for providing an .indégeﬁdé:ﬁt.due diligence
through identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling risk to ensure an effective checkand balance, as
well as drafting various risk management policies and procedures. In addition, requnsil_i?l’ezfoi_’ __repoﬁing the
implementation of risk management policies and risk profiles to the Senior Manz;gemér}t;and for providing
supports and recommendations for their decision-making, '

+ Supporting units (back office): Responsible for providing proper day-to-day operations support to ensure
that there are adequate human resources and systems to support risk management. o

*  Internal Audit: Responsible for conducting independent checking, and reporting to the Eqa_rd on the quality

of risk management supervision, the adequacy and the compliance of internal polici'e_s'ah'd-_ procedures,
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(i) Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk of loss arising from any failure by a borrewer or.a counterparty to fulfil its

financial obligations as and when they fall due.

Branch manages credit risk exposures through a robust credit underwriting, structuring atid:monitoring process.
The process includes monthly review of all non-performing and special mention loas, if any, _e‘ﬁs'u'r__ing credit
quality and the timely recognition of asset impairment. In addition, credit review -anc::f_. féit_xdi‘t? are performed
* regularly to proactively manage any delinguency, manage undesirable concentratiois, rﬁ_ﬁé{i'z}}jj‘éeieczo?éfies, and
ensure that credit policies and procedures are complied with. Past dues and credit Hrnit_m;_c’_#ésés a_r'e__tracked and
analysed by business, product lines and risk management units. Significant trends are{feﬁ'dﬁﬁﬂ._tdth‘c Branch’s

management and Head Office.

To strengthen the credit risk management framework, the Branch follows guideline which gets-out the operation
procedures and requirements with regard to the use of valid internal rating model and relevant approach in credit
approval, credit monitoring and reporting of credit risk information. The internal master raﬁ:j‘g_sqaize {_;_an._b&_: mapped

to Standard & Poor’s external credit ratings.

The Branch also conducts stress test on an individual borrower level during credit assessment to consider

potential future changes in economic conditions.

The credit risk from Cash and short-term funds, Balances with Autoriti Monetari Brzmel Darussalam Deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, Government Sukuk, group balances recelvables and other assels are

managed by dealing with approved counterparties and within the credit limits.
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28. Financial Risk Management {continued)
(i} Credit risk (continued)

The table that follows show the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the Statement of

financial position,

Maximum Exposure for the period ended 31 December

2015 2018

BS'000 BS'000
Credit Exposure for On-Statement of Financial Position o
Financial Assets S
Cash and short term funds 4,083 2,633
Balances with Autoriti Monetati Brunei Darnssalam 47,650 17,308 '
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 145 77
Government Sukuk 19,271 11,680
Group balances receivable 182,044 108374
Loans and advances to customers 139,829 68,5_96: _
Other assels 343 38[i R
Credit Exposure For Off-Statement of Financial Position
Financial Assets
Letters of credit 2,163 ‘ = =
Guarantees, bonds 14 13,69_"8"-_'
Acceptances 606 " R
Undrawn credit lines 10,304 8,425
Total maximum credit exposures 406,452 I31,108 .

As a fundamental credit principle, the Branch does not grant credit facilities solely on the basm ofihe collateral
provided. All credit facilities are granted based on the credit standing of the borrﬂwer sa)urce of repayment and

debt service ability.

Collateral is taken whenever possible to mitigate the credit risk assumed. The value of ‘zh'é '{:GHateral" ismonitored
periodically and covers 100% of a credit risk associated with the respective ﬁnanc;al 3sset The main type of
collateral taken by the Branch is residential and commercial properties. Policies and processes are m place to

monitor ¢collateral concentration.
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)
Collateral

Collateral is held to mitigate risk exposures. The Branch’s credit risk mitigation policy determines the key

considerations for eligibility, enforceability and effectiveness of credit risk mitigation ai‘_rénge'r_r’iéﬂté.

Collateral types that are eligible for risk mitigation include: cash, residential property, commercial property and

industrial property, land, Tixed assets such as machinery, aircraft and vessel, bank gu'arantéés' afd-letters of credit.

Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of bori‘é_\a_f_ii}'g. Regular valuation
of collateral is required in accordance with the Branch’s credit risk policy, which pres_qri:bés: botlh the process of
valuation and the frequency of valuation for different collateral types. The valuation ffeqj_jenby ‘iis-dﬁ_ven by the

level of price volatility of each type of collateral and the nature of the underlying pr_odﬁct__of fiskfexposures.

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other credit enhancements held against loans. and advances to
customers and banks, after adjusting for the effect of over-collateralisation and excluding provision made for

impairment losses, is shown below:-

2019 2018 )
B5'000 BS'000. _

Gross bills recetvable, loans and advances 1o customers 139,829 58,596
Other contingencies and commitments 13 087 22,125
Less: financial effect of collateral held -
- Cash 1,446 1,068
- Other physical collaterat 103 373
- Properties 13,554 12,568
- Guarantees 14 13638

Net exposure from loans and advances to customers and off

. e 137,799 63,072
statement of financial positions tems e

For other assets in the statement of financial position, the exposure to credit risk_equal_séihéi_}f cartying amount.
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28. Financial Risk Management (continaed)
(i) Credit risk {(continued)

Past Due

An asset is considered to be past due when any payment under the strict contractual terms have been missed or

received late. The amount included as past due is the entire coniractual balance, rather ﬂié}_'_}l_th'_é;d{fer'dUe_ portion.

Past Due but not impaired loans and advances

Past due but not impaired loans are those for which contractual interest or principal payménﬁ_sj ate past-due, but
the Branch believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis. of the level off'-seét}iityféb'l'laier;t_i- available

and/ or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Branch.

Impaired loans and advances

Advances are credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact: on; ‘fhg;.es‘ﬁr_n_ated future
cash flows have occurred. Credit-impaired advances are classified as Stage 3 and Iife‘tim:e'expe‘cted'c_i‘ec_li't-losses

will be recognised.

The Branch identifies the advances as impaired if the exposure is past due for more than 90 days or the borrower

is unlikely to pay in full for the credit obligations to the Branch.

The impairment allowances were made after taking into account the value of collateral in respect of such

advances.

Classified or impaired advances to customers represent advances which are either c1a551ﬁed a8 substandard”
“doubtful” or “loss” under the Branch’s classification of loan quality, or classified as s‘{age 3;’1nd1v1duaﬂy

assessed to be impaired.

The Branch’s adopts the loans grading criteria which divide credit assets into five categoﬁés_é-s-.'b‘el-ow:

“Pass” represents loans where the borrower is current in meeting its repayment obligations.and full repayment

of interest and principal is not in doubt.

“Special Mention™ represents loans where the borrower is experiencing difficulties which may threaten the

Branch’s position. Ultimate loss is not expected at this stage but could occur if adverse conditions persist.
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(1) Credit risk (continued)

“Substandard” represents loans where the borrower displays a definable weakness -tha't'--:i_s' _3,ikeiy-§ojeopardise

repayment.

“Doubtful” represents loans where collection in full is improbable and the Branch -expe;:_étsfto sustain a loss of

principal and/or interest, taking into account the net realisable value of the collateral.

“Loss” represents loans which are considered uncollectible after all collection options (such asthe realisation of

collateral or the institution of legal proceedings) have been exhausted.

Grading analysis of loans and advances that classified under neither past due nor impairéd_'i_'s'sﬁmmarissc{ in the

table that follows :

Loans & advances to customers
Corporate

- Commercial loans - Stage 1
Less: Impairment Allowances

Loans & advances to customers
Corporate

- Commercial loans

Less: Collective Impairment

2019 _
Pass Special Mention  Substandardor . Total
Be-lciw‘_ fraren o™ %
- BS$'000 BS'000 BS!000 - -BS'000
139,829 - - o 139,829
(844) By
138,985 - - - 138,985
2018 L
Pass Special Mention Substanda_raﬁ_mj: = ’]‘D\{a}
Below . =
B$'000 BS'000 B$'000 . B$'000
68.596 - . . 68596
(449} SO .. -)
638,147 = -

There are no loans and advances that classified under impaired and past due but not irnpaire_d._
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28. Financial Risk Management (cortinued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)

The following tables present an analysis of other financial assets that are neither _past.:'(_:inf';-_faﬁor impaired as at 31

December :
me

Tnrated Rated Teotal

B$'000 B$'000 . BS000
Cash and short term funds 4,083 - 4,083
Balances with Autoriti Monetari Brunei Darussalam 47,650 = 47,650
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions - 45 145
Government Stkuk 19,271 5 1937
Gronp balances receivable - - 182,044 T IBTDa4
Other assets 343 o343
71,347 182,189 253,536

- 2018

Unrated Rated. Total

B$'008 BSWO0 . BS'000
Cash and short term funds 2,633 S 2,533
Balances with Autoriti Monetari Brunei Darussalam 7,305 o 17305
Deposits with banks and other financial institations 17 - 17
Government Sukuk 11,680 w“ 11,680
Group balances receivable @ 108374 108,374
Other ascets 380 s’ e 38D
32,015 108,374 . - 140,389

The Branch monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector. The Branch’s maximuim expostire to crédit risk
before taking into account any collateral held other credit enhancements and netting arrangements, is shown in

the table below.

2019 2018

B$'W000 . B$'000

Loans & advances fo customers . :
Mamufacturing 63661 . 37,188
Traders 15985 - . 6895
Services 8721 .- 230
Financial 21,061 N
Residential & Commercial property 304010 - 23311

139829 - 68596
Less : Impairment allowances made in respect of such advances
- Stage 1 @44y (449)

138985 . 68147
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(i) Market risk

.....

adversely affected by changes in market variables such as interest rates, securities pricés:and -for_gign exchange

rates.

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited’s market risk management is intended to ensure proper oversight of market
risk, assure market risk taking activities are consistent with its risk appetite whi!e.optimi's_iiﬁg risk and return. In
accordance with the Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited’s corporate governance princi?}fes’ in réspect-of #isk™™
management, the Board and Risk Management Committee, senior management and functi‘c_é.ngl_'departments/units
perform their duties and responsibilities to manage the market risk. The Risk Managem‘en’t..-D_:épa'rtment is mainly
responsible for managing market risk, assisting senior management to perform their day-to-day duties,
independently monitoring the market risk profile and compliance of management p_oﬁ'cieis and limits and

ensuring that the aggregate and individnal market risks are within acceptable levels.
The Branch manages market risk according to the Bank’s business requirements and risk tolerance level.
{iii} Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings and economic value of foreign currency assets, labilities and

financial derivatives caused by fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

A summary of quantifative data about the Branch’s net exposure to major foreign currencies.is provided below,

followed by a sensitivity analysis (assuming all other risk variables remain constant):

2019 : 2018
BS'000 ~ BS'000
Net Foreign Currency Exposure: Assets/(Liabilities) Assétsf@i_aﬁﬁitiesj
Chinese Yuan 14 = 9
Euro 4 -
Hong Kong Dollar 232 1,490
United States Dollar 269 255
319 . L7s4
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(iii) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

A 10% strengthening of BND against the foreign currencies as at vear end, would ha__v_e:?incfe:as:ed/(decreased)
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variab}é‘é;f;iﬁ f?értiﬁular interest
rates, remain constant, R o |
2009 2018

BS'G00 B$'000
10% Strengthening Profit/{(Loss) Pz‘ﬂfiijﬁﬁoss)
Chinese Yuan _ 14 = : 0.9
Euro 04 "
Hong Kong Dollar 233 0l o 1490
United States Dollar 269 . 255

5.9 0 1754

A 10% weakening of BND against the foreign currencies as at year end would have hadftﬁé“éq'ual_' but opposite

effect on the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

(iv) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk means the risks to a Branch’s earnings and economic value arising frommovements-in interest
rate and term structures of the Branch’s asset and liabilities positions. The Branch’s interest rate risk exposures

are mainly structural. The major types of interest rate risk from structural positions are:

-Repricing risk: mismatches in the maturity or repricing periods of assets and labilities that may affect net

interest income;

- Basis risk: different pricing basis for different transactions resulting that the yield on-asseis and cost of liabilities

may change by different amounts within the same repricing period,

- Yield curve risk: non-parallel shifts in the yield curve that may have an adverse impact ro_ﬁ;_net._int_eres}t income

or economic value; and

- Option risk: exercise of the options embedded in assets, liabilities or off-balance sheet-ité’fr_is- that can cause a

change in the cash flows of assets and liabilities.
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(iv) Interest rate risk (continued)

The Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited’s risk management framework applies also 1o interest rate risk
management. The Asset and Liability Management Committee (“ALCO”) exercises :itSIIOVETSigh_’E. of intérest rate
risk in accordance with the “BOCHK Group Banking Book Interest Rate Risk Manage'ih'_enit _P_'ol_'icy” approved
by Risk Committee (“RC™). Interest Rate and Liguidity Risk Management is respons:-i'bl'é for iﬁieie_st- rate risk
management. With the cooperation of Financial Management Department and Invest'rnent.'Mé_nﬁgément, RMD
assists the ALCO to perform day-to-day interest rate risk management. Its roles inciu{ic,‘_'_bzit are not limited to,
the formulation of management policies, selection of methodologies, setting of gisk-__iiﬁdit;ators and limits,
assessment of target balance sheet, monitoring of the compliance with pelicies and li'm'ité_;--_and' submission of

interest rate risk management reports to the senior management and RC, etc.

The Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited sets out interest rate risk indicators and limits to identify, measure,
monitor and control interest rate risk. The indicators and limits are classified into different levels, which are
approved by the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and Chief Risk Officer (“CRO™), ALCO, RC accordingly.

The Branch is required to conduct their business within the boundary of the interest rate risk limits as stipulated

by Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited as well as local regulatory guidelines.

Net Interest Income (“NII”) and Economic Value (“EV™) assess the impact of interest.rate: movement on the
Branch’s net interest income and capital base. They are the Branch’s key interest rate risk '_in_'(__i”i'ce_é_térs‘ The
former assesses the impact of interest rate movement on net interest income as a perce'litaigegfo the projected
net interest income for the year. The latter assesses the impact of interest rate moveme‘ﬁt't_)_n_' éc.oﬂoiﬁi'c_..tfaiue
(i.e. the net present value of cash flows of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet i"tems_' dié:co_ufl'_t_éd us.ing

market interest rate) as a percentage to the latest capital base.

Impact on net interast

N Impact on reserves at
income over the next bwelve

be
maonths at 3 Becember 31 December
2018 2018 2018 2018
BNDEM BHGSM BNDEM BHDEH
Total .52 §.48 - 8.1 - 0.02
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28. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(v) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Branch fails to provide sufficient funds to grow assets or pay-due obligations,
and need to bear an unacceptable loss. The Branch’s maintains sound liquidity ris'k:appé__ti'té to provide stable,
reliable and adequate sources of cash to meet liquidity needs under normal circumstances or stressed scenarios;

and to survive with net positive cumulative cash flow in extreme scenarios.

The Branch’s liquidity risk management objective is to effectively manage the liquidity of on= and off-balance
sheet items with reasonable cost based on the liquidity risk appetite to achieve sound operation-and sustainable
profitability. Deposits trom customers are the Branch’s primary source of funds, To en'éu:l'fe&_ﬁ-stab'le- and sufficient
source of funds are in place, the Branch actively attracts new deposits, keeps the cg)'ré dep051tand obtains
supplementary funding from the interbank market. According to different term maturities and the results of
funding needs estimated from stressed scenarios, the Branch adjusts its asset structure (inc__l}fj_cfi_iﬁg;igans,_imerbank
placement, etc.) to maintain sufficient liquid assets which provide adequate funds in supp_o._fi_ of 'noﬁn_ai business

needs and ensure its ability to raise funds at a reasonable cost to serve external claims in:¢ase of émergency.

The following table shows cash flow analysis of the Branch’s liabilities by remaining c_onf;.raé‘_[ugl maturities on
an undiscounted basis. Actual maturity dates may differ from contractual maturity daté'_'s_: "c_i:;te"_tb; behavioural

patterns such as early withdrawal of deposits or Ioans from counterparties.

As at 31 December 2019
More No.

1-3yvears than3 specific Total
years - maturity

B3'900  B$600 BS'060 B$'000 BS000 BS000 BS'ﬂOI} BS'000

Carrving Uptol 1-3 3-12
Amonsat month months  months

Liabilities
Deposits from cnstomers 174,055 93,290 44 81.627 = = R 174.961
Group balances pavable 107,267 107371 - - - - - 167371
Other Habilitiss 55,684 54 651 97 877 - 38 - 33663
Lease Liabilities 623 20 39 155 3890 7 - 811
Taxation - - . - - - .

337569 255332 180 82,659 380 S5 . - 338,606
As at 33 December 2018

Mor ™
Camying Uptol  1-3 312 ore °

1-3vears thand -_'s_pieg_i'ii{:. Total
vears  mafurify
B$'000  BS'0G0  BS'000 BS'060 BS'000  B$'000C  BSOOC  BS$'000

Amouni  month months  months

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 109413 169343 43 23 - - - 109413
Group balances pavable 42,404 42,404 = 2 - = - 42,404
Other Habilities 2395 1,568 809 i8 = = = 2,395
Taxation - - - - - - - -

154,212 153317 852 43 - - C = 154212
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29. Current and Non-Current Assets and Liahilities

Current assets and liabilities (expected to be settled or recovered within the next 12 moniths) and Non-Current

assets and liabilities (not expected to be setiled or recovered within the next 12 month':s)-' are as follows:-

Current NonCurrént . . - Total
BS'000 BS000 . BS'000
Assets R ' B
Cash and short term funds 4,083 = 4083
Balances with Aworitt Monetani Brunet Darussalam 47650 = 47650
Deposiis with banks and other Snancial instistions 143 £y 143
Government Sukuk 19271 - 19271
Group balances recefvable 182,044 w 18204
Loans and advancesto custemers 44 148 YEBLT - - f3g08s
Other assets 444 E 444
Property and equipment = 273 - 2722
Dreferred tax assets - S a9 297
207807 97836 . 305.643
Liabilities and Head Office Account .
Dieposits ffom customers 174,035 e E74.035
Group balances payable 107,207 D Fo7207
Other Kabilities 55,829 478 56.307
Taxation - - -
Head Office Account - 0T 3ROV
337,001 393,643
As at 31 December 2018
Current Non Current | . Tofal
BS'000 BS'WG00 . BS'000
Assets i e
Cash and short term fonds 2.633 S 2,633
Balances with Autoriti Monectari Brunet Darussalarn 17305 < 1E305
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 17 = 17
Government Sukuk 11,680 U 11680
Group balances receivable 108,374 - 108,374
Loans and advances to customers 8.658 S6489° 68147
Other assets 386 B 1 e 466
Property and equipment - 2510 2510
Deferred tax assets = i 110
149,053 62,189 211,242
Liabilities and Head Office Account .
Deposits from customers 109413 - 109413
Group balances payable 42404 - 42404
Other kabilites 2395 - 2395
Taxzation - ~ -
Head Office Account - 57030 57.030

154,212 s7080 21138
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30. Events after the balance sheet dafe.

The outbreak of COVID-2019 since early 2020 has been impacting the economy. The:'B'ranc_'h_ will closely
monitor the developments and continue to evaluate its impacts on the Branch’s opérationsf_'iahd_.ﬁ_ﬁéﬁ{iiai status.
The impact on macroeconomic factors and the dewnward pressure on the economy will be c_(j)_rjé:i&é’;e'd. i

estimating the ECL in 2020.
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Appendix I ~ Corporate Governance

AMBD Notice No. BU/N-1/2017/36 — Disclosure of Corporate Governance Arrangements

A copy of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited’s (“BOCHK™) Corporate Governance Policy can
be found at the following website link :

https://www.bochk.com/en/aboutus/corpgovernance/policy html|

A copy of the Corporate Governance Policy of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited ("BOCHK
(Holdings)") can be found at the following website link:

https://www.bochk.com/en/aboutus/corpgovernance/policy.htm|

A copy of BOCHK parent bank’s (Bank of China Limited) corporate governance disclosures can
be found in the Annual Report of Bank of China Limited at the following website link :

hitp://www.boc.cn/en/investor/ir3/

Corporate Governance Framework at BOCHK Brunei Branch

In line with BOCHK, BOCHK. Brunei Branch (“the Branch™) is committed to maintaining and
upholding high standards of corporate governance in order fo safeguard the interests of shareholders,
customers and employees. The Board is at the core of corporate governance framework and there
is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and the Management.

Being a Southeast Asian branch of BOCHK, the Branch does not have a locally established Board
of Directors and BOCHK Board of Directors oversees the Group which includes the Branch. The
Board of Directors of BOCHK is responsible for providing high-level guidance and effective
oversight of the Management. The Board authorizes the Management {Chief Executive ("CE”) or
the Management Committee (“MC™) chaired by CE and other decision making committees
designated by CE or MC) to implement the strategies as approved by the Board. The Management
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group including overseas branches and reports
to the Board. For this purpose, the Board has formulated clear written guidelines which stipulate
the circumstances when the Management should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Group.

Roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive

To avoid concentration of power in any single individual, the positions of the Chairman and CE of
BOCHK are held by two different individuals. Their roles are distinct, clearly established and
stipulated in the Board’s Mandate. In short, the Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board
properly discharges its responsibilities and conforms to good corporate governance practices and
procedures. In addition, as the Chairman of the Board, he is also responsible for ensuring that all
directors are properly briefed on all issues currently on hand, and that all directors receive adequate,
accurate and reliable information in a timely manner.
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The CE is responsible for providing leadership for the whole management and implementing
important policies and development strategies as adopted by the Board. Led by the CE, the MC
fulfills responsibilities including management of the Group’s routine operation, implementation of
business development strategies and realisation of the Group’s long-term targets and strategies.

Under the South East Asia entities Governance structure, the Branch General Manager (“GM™) has
direct reporting lines to BOCHK CE and BOCHK Senior Management (Deputy CE and Chief Risk
Officer (“CRO™}). Local Risk Management and Compliance teams have dual reporting lines to
both the Branch’s GM/CRO and the corresponding BOCHK Regional Management Team in Hong
Kong. The Corporate Governance policy of the Branch is implemented and monitored via this
governance structure but may adopt differentiation in Corporate Governance practice in accordance
with local laws/regulatory requirements.

Corporate Governance Policy

BOCHK Group including the Branch recognises the importance of high standards of corporate
governance and maintains an effective corporate governance framework which delivers long-term
success of the Group. The Group is also strongly committed to embracing and enhancing sound
corporate governance principles and practices. The established well-structured corporate
governance framework of BOCHK adopted by the Branch directs and regulates the business ethical
conduct of the Branch, thereby protects and upholds the interests of shareholders and stakeholders
as a whole in a sustainable manner.

However, the following is a summary of deviations noted from Jocal regulatory guidelines on
Corporate Governance (“Brunei Guidelines™) with rationale and/or alternative arrangements put in
place provided.

1. While the Brunei Guidelines require that the number of executive directors on the Board be
kept to the very minimum and there should not be more than one executive director sitting on
the Board, BOCHK is adhering to the corporate governance regulations and practice in Hong
Kong which allows BOCHK tfo appoint the number of executive director(s) as it deems
appropriate, which is currently one.

2. The Brunei Guidelines require that every Bank should appoint a lead independent director and
the independent directors should, under the leadership of this lead independent director, meet
periodically without the presence of the other directors and the lead independent director should
provide feedback to the Chairman after such meetings. BOCHK is not required to appoint such
a lead independent director based on the corporate governance regulations and practice in Hong
Kong, but the independent directors shall hold meetings with the Chairman at least annually
without the presence of the other directors.

3. While the Brunei Guidelines require that a director should not have more than 3 Board
representations, BOCHK is adhering to the Hong Kong’s regulations that the Board would only
disclose why it believes a proposed independent non-executive director would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board if the individual will be holding his/her seventh (or more)
listed company directorship. Currently there is no director who holds more than 3 listed
company directorships on the Board other than BOCHK (Holdings).



Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited — Brunei Darussalam Branch

4.

While the Brunei Guidelines require that a simple majority of directors should constitute a
quorum for a meeting of the Board, BOCHK’s Articles of Association state that the quorum
necessary for the transaction of the business of the directors may be fixed by the directors and
unless so fixed shall be two. According to the Mandate of the Board of Directors approved by
the Board, the quorum of Board meeting is three directors. This is in line with market practice
in Hong Kong to maintain flexibility while the high attendance record and active participation
has been consistently maintained by the directors of BOCHK and disclosed.

While the Brunei Guidelines require that Banks should have a policy on payment of dividends
and should communicate it to shareholders, BOCHK (Holdings) will disclose its dividend
policy in 2019 Annual Report to be published in 2020 pursuant to the new requirement of the
Listing Rules.

While the Brunei Guidelines require that the nomination committee (“NC) determines
annually, and as and when circumstances require, if a director is independent, BOCHK s NC
annually assesses the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors who retire and
offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with the Articles
of Association.

According to the Brunei Guidelines, the Board should state in the Bank's Annual Report how
the assessment of the Board, its Board Commitiees and each director has been conducted. If an
external facilitator has been used, the Board should disciose in the Bank's Annual Report
whether the external facilitator has any other connection with the Bank or any of its directors.
BOCHK’s Annual Report has disclosed how the assessment of the Board, its Board
Committees and each director has been conducted. There is currently no external facilitator
engaged.

While the Brunei Guidelines require the Board should also comment in the Bank's Annual
Report on whether it has received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO™) and the
Chief Financial Controller (“CFO™) (a) that the financial records have been properly
maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Bank's operations and
finances; and (b) regarding the effectiveness of the Bank’s risk management and internal control
systems, comment on the internal control and risk management systems has been disciosed in
the Corporate Governance Report of BOCHK (Holdings) without such specific comment on
assurance received from CEO and CFO.

Risk Management & Internal controls

Refer to Appendix 2 attached to the Annual Report for further details

Internal Audit

Refer to Appendix 2 attached to the Annual Report for further details

Compliance

Refer to Appendix 2 attached to the Annual Report for further details
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AMBD Notice No. BU/N-1/2018/51- Amendment No.1 ~ Disclosure on Risk Management,
Credit Risk Management, Internal Audit Function, Compliance and Compliance Function
and Internal Control Systems

Risk Management Framework and Internal Control Systems

In line with Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited (“BOCHK™), BOCHK Brunei Branch (“the
Branch™) is committed to maintaining and upholding high standards of corporate governance in
order to safeguard the interests of shareholders, customers and employees. The Board is at the core
of corporate governance framework and there is a clear division of responsibilities between the
Board and the Management.

Being a Southeast Asian branch of BOCHK, the Branch does not have a locally established Board
of Directors as BOCHK Board of Directors oversees the Group' which includes the Branch.
BOCHK ’s risk management framework and internal control systems are applicable to and adopted
by the Branch. The Board of Directors for BOCHK is responsible for providing high-level guidance
and effective oversight of the Management. The Board authorizes and discharges their oversight
responsibilities to the Management (Chief Executive ("CE”) or the Management Committee (“MC™)
chaired by CE and other decision making committees designated by CE or MC) to implement the
strategies as approved by the Board. The Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations
of the Group including overseas branches and reports o the Board. For this purpose, the Board has
formulated clear written guidelines which stipulate the circumstances when the Management
should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Group.

The Group’s risk management governance structure is designed to cover all business processes and
ensures various risks are properly managed and controlled in the course of conducting business.
The Group has a robust risk management organisational structure with a comprehensive set of
policies and procedures to identify, measure, monitor and control various risks that may arise.
These risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed and updated to reflect
changes in markets and business strategies. Various groups of risk takers assume their respective
responsibilities for risk management.

The Board of Directors, representing the interests of sharehoiders, is the highest decision-making
authority of the Group and has the ultimate responsibility for risk management. The Board, with
the assistance of its Committees, has the primary responsibility for the formulation of risk
management strategies and ensuring that the Group has an effective risk management system to
implement these strategies.

The Risk Management Committee (“RMC”), a standing committee established by the Board of
Directors, is responsible for overseeing the Group’s various types of risks, approving risk
management policies and monitoring their implementation, reviewing significant or high risk
exposures or transactions and exercising its power of veto if if considers that any transaction should

! The Group is comprised of BOC Hong Kong {Holdings} Limited, Bank of China (Hong Kongj Limited, and other major affiliated
entities of the Group, including South East Asian entities, BOC Credit Card {International} Limited, BOC Group Life Assurance
Company Limited, BOCHK Asset Management Limited and Po Sang Securities and Futures Limited etc.
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not proceed. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its role in overseeing the internal
control system.

The Chief Executive (“CE”) is responsible for managing the Group’s various types of risks, and
approving material risk exposures or transactions within his authority delegated by the Board of
Directors, The Deputy Chief Executives (“DCEs™) and the Chief Risk Officer (“CRO™} as part of
the Senior Management team assist the CE in fulfilling his responsibilities on the day-to-day
management of various types of risk, and are responsible for approving material risk exposures or
transactions within their authorities delegated by the CE. In addition, the CRO is responsible for
initiating new risk management strategies, projects and measures in response to regulatory changes
that wili enable the Group to better monitor and manage any risks that may arise from time to time
from new businesses, products and changes in the operating environment. In accordance with the
principle of setting the hierarchy of risk management policies approved by the Board, Senior
Management are also responsible for approving the detailed risk management policies of their
responsible areas.

Under the South East Asia entities Governance structure, the Branch General Manager (“GGM"™) has
direct reporting lines to BOCHK CE and BOCHK Senior Management (Deputy CE and Chief Risk
Officer). Local Risk Management and Compliance teams have dual reporting lines to both the
Branch’s GM/CRO and the corresponding BOCHK Regional Management Team in Hong Kong.
The Risk Management Framework and internal control systems of the Branch are implemented and
monitored via this governance structure.

Various units of the Group have their respective risk management responsibilities, Business units
act as the first line of defence while risk management units, which are independent from the
business units, are responsible for the day-to-day management of different kinds of risk. Risk
management units have the primary responsibilities for drafting, reviewing and updating various
risk management policies and procedures.

The Group supplements the analysis of various types of risks with stress testing. Stress testing is a
risk management tool for estimating risk exposures under stressed conditions arising from extreme
but plausible market or macroeconomic movements. These tests are conducted on a regular basis
by the Group’s various risk management units. The Asset & Liability Committee (“ALCO™)
monitors the results against the key risk limits approved by the RMC. The Financial Management
department reports the combined stress test results of the Group to the Board and RMC regularly.

The Group is committed to upholding good corporate governance practices and the internal control
systems are reviewed regularly.

Continuous improvements on the organisation structure, segregation of duty and the risk
management policy and procedure have been undertaken. Similar to 2018, the Branch is
implementing the disclosure transparency requirements by Autoriti Monetari Brunei Darussalam
(“AMBD”) as part of the Branch’s Annual Report to the financial statements for the operations in
Brunei Darussalam for the vear ended 31st December 2019.

! The Group is comprised of BOC Hong Kong {Holdings) Umited, Bank of China {Hong Kong) Limited, and other major affiliated
entittes of the Group, including South East Asian entities, BOC Credit Card {International} Limited, BOC Group Life Assurance
Company Limited, BOCHK Asset Management Limited and Po Sang Securities and Futures Limited etc,



Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited - Brunei Darussalam Branch
Appendix 2 — Regulatory Disclosures

Credit Risk Management
Please refer to Annual Report Notes 28 for details.
Internal Audit Function

Based on the latest regulatory requirements, guidelines as well as market practices, the Board at
BOCHK has established four standing Board Committees to assist in performing its responsibilities,
namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the Risk Committee,
and the Strategy and Budget Committee. The Audit Committee oversees the Group’s internal audit
(“IA™) function and is responsible for :

* integrity of financial statements and financial reporting process

« monitoring of risk management and internal control systems

+ effectiveness of internal audit function and performance appraisal of the General Manager of
BOCHK Group Audit (“Group Audit™)

» appointment of external auditor and assessment of its qualification, independence and
performance and, with authorisation of the Board and shareholders at general meeting,
determination of its remuneration

+ periodic review and annual audit of the Bank’s and the Group’s financial statements, financial
and business review

» compliance with applicable accounting standards as well as legal and regulatory requirements
on financial disclosures

+ corporate governance framework of the Group and implementation thereof

Local internal audit function of the Branch has been established since November 2019, with dual
reporting lines to Branch Manager administratively and Group Audit functionally. The local 1A
team currently has one audit specialist who carries out risk information reporting and ensures audit
reviews are timely performed to address major risks effectively. With the direct management
approach adopted by Group Audit, the local 1A team forms an integral part of Group Audit and is
being supported by Group Audit which consists of high calibre professional staff with wide range
of expertise that is essential to the effectiveness of the bank’s internal audit function.

The Internal Audit Charter of Group Audit articulates the mission, purpose, responsibility and
scope of work, accountability, independence and objectivity, authority, strategic and annual audit
plan, relationship with other control functions, professional standards, quality assurance and
improvement programme, and service standards of the internal audit function within the bank in a
manner that promotes an effective internal audit function.

Through the three lines of defence governance structure, Group Audit under Audit Committee
endeavours to provide risk-based, independent and objective assurance with a systematic and
disciplined approach to assist the Board or its designated Audit Committee and the Management in
the discharge of their responsibilities by ensuring all major risks are under good oversight, as well
as the risk management systems regarding tactics, policies, procedures and internal controls are
well implemented and promoted continuously.

3 The Group is comprised of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings} Limited, Bank of China [Hong Kong) Limited, and other major affiliated
entities of the Group, including South East Asian entities, BOC Credit Card (International) Limited, BOC Group Life Assurance
Company Limited, BOCHK Asset Management Limited and Po Sang Securities and Futures Limited etc,
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Pursuant to a risk-based approach and in accordance with the internal audit plan approved by the
Audit Committee, Group Audit conducts independent reviews on such aspects as financial activities,
various business areas, various kinds of risks (8 major banking risks within the bank - Credit,
Market, Operational, Legal and Compliance, Interest Rate, Liquidity, Strategic and Reputation),
operations and activities. The scope of the internal audit function’s activities will ensure adequate
coverage including matters of local legal and regulatory provisions within the Audit plan. Reports
are submitted directly to the Audit Committee and the Management. Group Audit closely follows
up on the items that require attention in a systematic way and reports to the Management and the
Audit Committee in a timely manner.

In accordance with the Internal Audit Charter, Group Audit shall maintain a quality assurance
programme. Group Audit has a delegated quality assurance team for the general audit quality
management work of the Department. In addition, every 3 to 5 years, an external consultant will
be appointed to perform independent assessment of the internal audit function.

Comphliance and Compliance Function

Compliance risk is the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, financial losses or losses in reputation
the Group® may suffer as a result of its failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations,
Major functions of Compliance risk management aims at improving the overall prevention and
control capability of the bank so as to ensure that the bank effectively complies with the regulatory
requirements, preventing the punishment on and loss against. or negative impact on the bank due
to the failure of rapid response to the changes of external regulatory environment, internal
environment and compliance requirements.

The Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility for the Group’s operation and financial
fitness, including legal, compliance and reputation risk management. The Board of Directors or its
Risk Management Committee is also responsible for the overall supervision of the Group’s legal,
compliance and reputation risk management.

As documented in the Board Manual on “Matters for the approval of the Board and Matters to be
noted by the Board”, the Board reviews and assesses annually the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control system. It would cover important monitoring aspects including
compliance controls.

The Board approves the Group’s high level risk management policies such as the “Legal,
Compliance and Reputational Risk Management Policy” which is applicable to the Compliance
Function at the Branch. The Group including the Branch should strictly follow this Policy with
full commitment to implementing the values of honesty and integrity, and require managers and
employees at all levels to comply with this Policy and ensure that all business activities and
operations are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations in order to uphold the Group’s
reputation. Key members of the Group, including overseas subsidiary banks and branches must
follow the risk management strategies and principles set out in this Policy.

Y the Group is comprised of BOC Hong Kong {Holdings) Limited, Bank of China {Hong Kong) Limited, and other maijor affiliated
entities of the Group, including South East Asian entities, BOC Credit Card {International} Uimited, BOC Group Life Assurance
Company Limited, BOCHK Assat Management Limited and Po Sang Securities and Futures Limited etc.
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BOCHK Senior Management and the Branch Senior Management have direct responsibility on
legal, compliance and reputation risk management. BOCHK Senior Management has the following
duties:

* To establish and implement relevant risk management policies;

* To assess and determine the factors that give rise to the above risks; establish and timely adjust
the corresponding risk management mechanism, methods and procedures; and to manage the
legal, compliance and reputation risks inherent in the Group’ s business operations;

« Toapprove contingency plans or crisis management plans to deal with any risk events that have
occurred or will potentially occur, and oversee the implementation of remedial measures to
mitigate the adverse effect;

» To ensure that the Group has effective and sufficient resources to support all units and staff in
implementing this management policy, and supervise Legal, Compliance and Operational Risk
(“LCO™) or relevant functional units in their performance of risk management.

+ To report any significant risk events to the Board of Directors or its authorized committee;
regularly report the Group’s overall risk evaluation results to the Board of Directors or its
authorized committee , and seek advice or approval when necessary; and

+  To foster the Group’s risk management cuiture and promote risk awareness across the board.

«  To earnestly perform its own compliance duties, set the right tone of compliance and lead by
personal example, transmit the correct compliance risk management principles from top to
bottom, and form a good compliance culture.

In order to ensure that each unit in the Group manages and supervises their legal, compliance and
reputation risks effectively, the “Three Lines of Defence™ management model is adopted and
implemented across the Group.

The Branch First Line of Defence for Legal and Compliance Risk Management

In accordance with the Group’s LCO policy, the Branch is the first line of defence and responsible
for legal, compliance and reputation risks within its purview. The Branch’s GM/CRO should bear
the ultimate responsibilities of their respective legal and compliance risk management and the
Branch’s GM is the primary responsible person of the Branch and is responsible for the
management of the Branch’s legal and compliance risk.

BOCHK Second Line of Defence for Legal and Compliance Risk Management

As the designated unit for legal and compliance risk management, LCO of BOCHK is responsible
for regulatory compliance; coordinating, managing, supporting, monitoring and following up on
legal and compliance risk management of the bank, including the Branch. The Branch’s LCO have
dual reporting lines to both the Branch’s GM/CRO and the corresponding BOCHK’s LCO team.
As a second line of defense, BOCHK’s LCO will perform on-site/off-site review pericdically in
order to ensure the Branch has complied with the Group’s requirement as well as the related
regulations issued by HKMA.

 the Group Is comprised of BOC Hong Kong {Holdings) Limited, Bank of China {Hong Kong} Limited, and other major affiliated
entities of the Group, including South East Asian entities, BOC Credit Card {international) Limited, BOC Group Life Assurance
Company Limited, BOCHK Asset Managemaent Limited and Po Sang Securities and Futures Limited etc.
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Three Lines of Defence mechanism of the Branch

The Branch has a developed “three lines of defence”™ mechanism and a comprehensive legal and
compliance risk management organization structure and management system as ils respective
internal second line of defence. The Branch’s LCO second line of defence should maintam its
independency and professionalism, and independently implement legal and compliance risk
monitoring, management and reporting.

The Branch’s LCO is an independent unit providing risk management and legal services, works
with relevant functional units and BOCHK’s risk management units to perform the duty of the
second line of defence. L.CO is responsible for the coordination, support and supervision of all fist
line of defence units and other second fine of defence units in the legal, compliance and reputation
risk management work. The Branch’s LCO will also ensure that the Branch has effectively
implemented appropriate procedures to manage the above risks, monitor each unit’s status of
implementing the procedures, supervise any corrective actions and deal with breaches, and report
breaches and the progress of remedial measures to the BOCHK’s LCO respective team. The
Branch’s LCO will conduct regular risk-based compliance testing and reviews so as to ensure that
business and support units effectively execute relevant control measures in daily operations to
achieve due compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Annually, a Compliance Risk Assessment is being performed by the Branch and reported to
BOCHK’s LCO to assess the overall risk profile at the Branch including the improvement in
mechanism for legal compliance risk management.

BOCHK Third Line of Defence for Legal and Compliance Risk Management

Group Audit is the third line of defence, which provides independent assessment on the legal,
compliance and reputation risk management framework, and is required to conduct periodic audit,
assess the effectiveness of the internal control systems and make audit recommendations.

Legal, Compliance and Operational Risk Management Policy and Measures and Reporting
Mechanism

The Group has formulated Legal, Compliance and Operational Risk Management Policy (“The
Policy™) and the Administrative Measures for Legal and Compliance Risk Management (“The
Measures™) to effectively manage and control the legal and compliance risks of BOCHK. The
Policy together with the Measures promote and cultivate a sound compliance culture so as to
develop all employees to be self-conscious in operational compliance and jointly ensure that the
implementation of basic requirements of relevant laws and regulations in all aspects.

The Branch should refer to the major principles and measures of the Policy and Measures, taking
its own standards, structures, businesses, existing mechanisms and local legal and regulatory
requirements into consideration, formulate relevant management measures (in addition to
complying with the Measures, the Branch must also comply with the relevant local regulatory
requirements. Whenever there are discrepancies, the more stringent one shall prevail in principle).
 the Group is comprised of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings} Limited, Bank of China {Hong Kong) Limited, and other major affiliated

entities of the Group, including South £ast Asian entities, BOC Credit Card {international} Limited, BOC Group Life Assurance
Company Limited, BOCHK Asset Management Limited and Po Sang Securities and Futures Limited etc.
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The Branch’s LCO team is required to submit regular risk management reporting to BOCHKs
LCO which summarizes the legal and compliance risk management of the month. Moreover, the
Branch’s LCO should notify the material and extremely material legal and compliance risk
incidents, which are defined under the Policy and Measures together with the handling and
rectification status to BOCHK’s L.CO immediately.

BOCHK's LCO should analyze the specific incident circumstances. BOCHK s LCO should report
10 the Board of Directors, the Risk Committee and Senior Management and, if necessary, follow
up on the handling and rectification progress of the relevant incident with the Branch to avoid the
occurrence of similar incidents in the Branch. The Branch’s LCO should organize the compliance
review on a timely basis for any material and extremely material legal and compliance risk incidents.
There is also a requirement to submit risk incident reporting to BOCHK’s LCO as part of their
oversight of the Branch’s compliance risk.

! The Group is comprised of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings} Limited, Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, and other major affiliated
entities of the Group, including South East Asian entities, BOC Credit Card (International} Limited, BOC Group Life Assurance
Company Limited, BOCHK Asset Management Limited and Po Sang Securities and Futures Limited etc.




